

# Screening of polyhydroxyalkanoate-producing bacteria and PhaC-encoding genes in two hypersaline microbial mats from Guerrero Negro, Baja California Sur, Mexico

Carolina A. Martínez-Gutiérrez<sup>1</sup>, Hever Latisnere-Barragán<sup>1</sup>, José Q. García-Maldonado<sup>2\*\*</sup>, Alejandro López-Cortés<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Laboratorio de Geomicrobiología y Biotecnología. Centro de Investigaciones Biológicas del Noroeste. La Paz, Baja California Sur, México.

<sup>2</sup>CONACYT – Centro de Investigación y de Estudios Avanzados del Instituto Politécnico Nacional. Mérida, Yucatán, México.

\*Corresponding author: A. López-Cortés, Centro de Investigaciones Biológicas del Noroeste La Paz Baja California Sur, México. Phone: +52-612-123-8484, Fax: +52-612-125-3625; E-mail: [alopez04@cibnor.mx](mailto:alopez04@cibnor.mx)

\*\*Corresponding author: J.Q. García-Maldonado, CONACYT - Centro de Investigación y de Estudios Avanzados del Instituto Politécnico Nacional. Mérida, Yucatán, México. Phone: +52-999-942-9461; E-mail: [jose.garcia@cinvestav.mx](mailto:jose.garcia@cinvestav.mx)

**Running Title:** PHA in hypersaline microbial mats

Deleted: Alejandra

Deleted: C

Deleted: (CIBNOR). Av. Instituto Politécnico Nacional 195. Playa Palo de Santa Rita Sur,

Deleted: , 23096,

Deleted: (CINVESTAV). Antigua Carretera a Progreso Km. 6.

Deleted: , 97310

## ABSTRACT

Hypersaline microbial mats develop through seasonal and diel fluctuations, as well as under several physicochemical variables. Hence, resident microorganisms commonly employ strategies such as the synthesis of polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) in order to resist changing and stressful conditions. However, the knowledge of bacterial PHA production in hypersaline microbial mats is limited to date, particularly in regards to medium-chain length PHAs (mcl-PHAs), which have biotechnological applications due to their plastic properties. The aim of this study was to obtain evidence for PHA production in two hypersaline microbial mats of Guerrero Negro, Mexico by searching for PHA granules and PHA synthase genes in isolated bacterial strains and environmental samples. Six PHA-producing strains were identified by 16S rRNA gene sequencing; three of them corresponded to a *Halomonas* sp.. In addition, *Paracoccus* sp., *Planomicrobium* sp. and *Staphylococcus* sp. were also identified as PHA producers. Presumptive PHA granules and PHA synthase genes were detected in both sampling sites. Moreover, phylogenetic analysis showed that most of the phylotypes were distantly related to putative PhaC synthases class I sequences belonging to members of the classes Alphaproteobacteria and Gammaproteobacteria distributed within eight families, with higher abundances corresponding mainly to Rhodobacteraceae and Rhodospirillaceae. This analysis also showed that PhaC synthase class II sequences were closely related to those of *Pseudomonas putida*, suggesting the presence of this group, which is probably involved in the production of mcl-PHA in the mats. According to our state of knowledge, this study reports for the first time the occurrence of *phaC* and *phaC1* sequences in hypersaline microbial mats, suggesting that these ecosystems may be a novel source for the isolation of short- and medium-chain length PHA producers.

Deleted: are developed

Deleted: innovate

Deleted: s

Deleted: and in a lesser extent

Deleted: regarding

Deleted: s

Deleted: o

Deleted: -bacterial

Deleted: s

Deleted:  $\alpha$ - and  $\gamma$ -Proteobacteria

Deleted: classes

Deleted: s

Deleted: Quantitative PCR assays of *phaC2* gene (synthase class II) from environmental samples supported our results of PhaC class II from clone libraries and suggest the potential presence of mcl-PHA producers in the studied ecosystems.

Deleted: as well as the detection and qPCR quantifications of *phaC2* gene

Deleted: s

Deleted: s

## INTRODUCTION

Microbial mats are highly diverse ecosystems characterized by both seasonal and diel fluctuations under several physicochemical variables, hence resident microorganisms must adapt to changing conditions of their environment [4]. Several functional strategies as well as their physiological versatility allow them to resist these conditions. For instance, carbon and energy-rich polymers such as poly-3-hydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) are accumulated as discrete granules to maintain the metabolic activities under unfavorable conditions and nutrient imbalance [4, 8].

Currently, microbial mats are considered productive systems that accumulate high quantities of PHA under natural conditions, and bioprospecting of PHA-producing bacteria in marine and hypersaline microbial mats has been done mostly using culture-dependent approaches [4, 23, 33, 40]. Consequently, these ecosystems have been proposed as excellent sources for isolating new PHA-producing strains with industrial applications, since PHAs show similar material properties to those of some common plastics such as polypropylene [4, 24].

PHAs are synthesized by many Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria [25]. PHA synthases encoded by *phaC* genes are the key enzymes that polymerize PHA monomers [29]. The composition of PHA is clearly affected by the choice of the microorganisms and the carbon source [15, 25]. Four major classes of PHA synthases (class I to IV) can be distinguished based on their primary structures, as well as the number of subunits and substrate specificity [29], allowing the use up to 150 chemically different monomers [30]. The most studied classes are PHA synthases I and II, comprising enzymes that consist of only one type of subunit (PhaC). PHA synthase class I polymerizes short-chain length PHAs (scl-PHA), while class II polymerizes medium-chain length PHAs (mcl-PHA), both with different rheological properties desirable in biotechnological developments [36, 39, 42].

Deleted: keywords: polyhydroxyalkanoates; mcl-PHA; *phaC*; PhaC synthases; hypersaline microbial mats; Guerrero Negro, Subject Category: Environmental Microbiology,

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: the storage of

Deleted: , which

Deleted: ion

Deleted: for the bulk of the community

Deleted: through

Deleted: hus, t

Deleted: its

Deleted: their

Deleted: s

Deleted: s

Distinctive ~~diel~~ patterns of *in situ* PHA accumulation, the molar percent ratio of hydroxyvalerate (HV): hydroxybutyrate (HB) ~~repeating units~~ [4, 33, 40], ~~and~~ the composition of taxa, have been recognized ~~in~~ different stratified-marine [4, 23, 40] and hypersaline microbial mats [4, 5, 28, 40]. Nonetheless, the analysis of PHA synthase gene sequences from environmental samples and ~~isolated~~ strains has not been ~~performed for~~ hypersaline marine microbial mats, except for a metatranscriptomic analysis of Elkhorn Slough mats [5].

Deleted: Diel

Deleted: d

Deleted: as well as

Deleted: from

Deleted: s

Deleted: s

Deleted: done in from

Deleted: the

The aim of the study was to enhance our understanding of PHA producers and obtain evidence of PHA production through the recovery of both classes (I and II) of PHA synthases sequences ~~from~~ two hypersaline microbial mats, by constructing clone libraries and isolating bacterial strains with the ability to grow and store PHA within the first 72 hours of culture. Therefore, the recovered putative PHA synthases allowed us to elucidate the potential ~~short- and medium-chain length PHA producers~~ in hypersaline microbial mats from Guerrero Negro, Mexico.

Deleted: its

Deleted: in

Deleted: ,

Deleted: age

Deleted: s

Deleted: of short- and medium-chain length PHAs

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Sample collection

Microbial mat samples were collected from concentration ponds of Area 1 (ESSA A1; 27°36.01'N 113°53.46'W) and Area 4 (ESSA A4; 27°41.41'N 113°55.19'W) at Exportadora de Sal S.A (ESSA), in Guerrero Negro, Baja California Sur, Mexico, during February, 2016.

The salinity of the studied sites was measured *in situ* (HI 931100 Hanna Instruments, Italy).

Samples were taken ~~in~~ duplicate and preserved in RNA later® for further molecular analysis. For ~~culture-dependent~~ assays, mat samples were dried at environmental temperature.

Deleted: by

Deleted: -culture

## Screening, isolation and molecular characterization of polyhydroxyalkanoate-producing bacteria

The first approach to detect PHA producers in environmental samples was Nile Red staining and examination, using a Nikon Eclipse 80i epifluorescence microscope under green excitation at 540 nm (Nikon, Japan).

The primary isolation of heterotrophic bacteria was done as follows: 0.1 g of mat from the photic zone was homogenized in 900 µl of half-concentration synthetic seawater (1/2X SSW) composed of (in g L<sup>-1</sup>): NaCl 11.675, KCl 0.75, MgSO<sub>4</sub>·7H<sub>2</sub>O 12.35, CaCl<sub>2</sub>·2H<sub>2</sub>O 1.45, Tris-HCl buffer 1.0 M pH 7.5 [3]. Aliquots of 200 µl of serial dilutions from 10<sup>-1</sup> to 10<sup>-9</sup> were plated in four different culture media: (1) marine agar 2216 (Difco®), (2) *Pseudomonas* agar F (Difco®) dissolved in 1/2 X SSW, (3) YEA glucose 1% (w/v) composed of (g L<sup>-1</sup>): NH<sub>4</sub>Cl 0.5, K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>·3H<sub>2</sub>O 0.076, yeast extract 0.2, FeSO<sub>4</sub>·7H<sub>2</sub>O 0.028, glucose 10, and agar 14, dissolved in 1/2 X SSW and (4) YEA acetate with the same composition as YEA glucose, but using acetate at 1% (w/v) as the carbon source. All inoculated media were incubated at 30°C under aerobic conditions for 72 hours.

Colonies developed on solid media plates at 72 hours were screened to select PHA producers using phase-contrast microscopy to detect RCI's and only those positive ones were subsequently assessed with two lipophilic stains: Sudan Black and Nile Red [23] under bright-field and epifluorescence microscopy, respectively (Eclipse 80i Nikon, Japan). Serial dilutions from 10<sup>-1</sup> to 10<sup>-8</sup> were performed using the respective isolation media to authenticate the axenic nature of the strains. Only strains that showed uniformity of colonial and cellular morphology were employed for DNA extraction.

Deleted: s

Deleted: done using

Deleted: ed

Deleted: n a

Commented [PD1]: Please define this abbreviation here.

Deleted: :

Deleted: :

Deleted: :

Deleted: Environmental mat samples were used to PHA producers detection of by Nile Red staining using epifluorescence microscope. In addition, to select PHA-producing bacteria able of both, fast growth and storage, discrete colonies developed in solid media within the first 72 hours of incubation were subjected to three different microscopic analysis; phase contrast microscopy to visualize brightly refractile cytoplasmic inclusions (RCIs), as well as two lipophilic stains, Sudan Black and Nile Red [23], under bright field microscopy and epifluorescence, respectively, were assessed (Eclipse 80i Nikon, Japan).

For taxonomic assignment and *phaC* gene detection, genomic DNA was extracted from pure cultures following the manufacturer's instructions of the DNeasy Blood and Tissue kit (QIAGEN, USA). DNA integrity and concentration were assessed by standard agarose gel electrophoresis and spectrophotometric reads using a NanoDrop Lite spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE). PCR amplifications of the 16S rRNA and *phaC* genes were performed using the GoTaq Master Mix system (Promega M7122, Madison, WI, USA), containing: 6.5 µl sterile water, 2.5 µl of each primer solution [10 µM], 12.5 µl of GoTaq Master Mix and 1 µl [10 ng µl<sup>-1</sup>] of DNA. The 16S rRNA amplifications were done using the universal primers BAC-8F and BAC-1492R [38], with the following thermocycling conditions: one cycle at 94 °C for 5 min, followed by 30 cycles at 94 °C for 1 min; 58 °C for 1 min; 72 °C for 1 min; and a final step at 72 °C for 5 min. Amplifications of partial *phaC* gene were obtained employing PHACGNF and PHACGNR primer set [24] (Table 1), in one cycle at 94 °C for 5 min followed by 30 cycles at 94 °C for 1 min; 54 °C for 1 min; 72 °C for 1 min, and a final step at 72 °C for 10 min. All the PCR assays were carried out in a Thermocycler T-100 (Bio-Rad, Berkeley, CA, USA) and analyzed by standard gel electrophoresis. All the resulting fragments were commercially sequenced by Genewiz (NJ, USA).

### ***phaC* and *phaC1* gene detection from environmental DNA**

Environmental DNA was extracted from 0.1 g of microbial mats' photic zone using the Power Biofilm DNA Isolation Kit (Mo Bio Laboratories, Carlsbad CA, USA). The amplification of *phaC* gene was achieved following the same procedures described for strains. However, to detect partial *phaC1* gene of *Pseudomonas* species, two sets of primers were designed after the alignment of thirteen *phaC1* sequences from different *Pseudomonas* species (Table 1; Dataset S1). The primers designed were evaluated *in silico* for secondary structure formation with

Deleted: by

Deleted: as follow

Deleted: thirty

Deleted: made

Deleted: thirty

Deleted: the

Deleted: of microbial mats

Deleted: from environmental DNA

Deleted: from mat samples

Deleted: ing

Deleted:

Deleted: Fig

Deleted: s

OligoAnalyzer tool (<https://www.idtdna.com/calc/analyzer>), and their functionality experimentally confirmed by PCR and sequencing using DNA from *Pseudomonas putida* strain KT2440 as control (Fig. S1). Contrary to the specificity observed in control PCR reactions, PCR assays with environmental DNA from both sampling sites and primer sets, showed a low specificity (Fig. S1). Consequently, a modified nested-PCR strategy was necessary in order to obtain the expected size and enough concentration of amplicons for sequencing. For the first round, a PCR reaction with primers phaC1F2 and phaC1R1 (Table 1) was done as previously described. Thermocycling conditions consisted in one cycle at 94 °C for 5 min, followed by 30 cycles at 94 °C for 1 min, 54 °C for 1 min, and 72 °C for 1 min, with a final step at 72 °C for 10 min. Since multiple bands were observed, a band of the expected size was excised and purified from agarose gel with the QIAquick Gel extraction kit (Qiagen GmbH, Hilden, Germany). Purified products were used as template in a second PCR round, with phaC1F1 and phaC1R2 primers (Table 1), with the same PCR and thermocycling conditions as described in the first PCR round.

PCR products were cloned into the vector pJET1.2 (Thermo Scientific, USA). For detection of positive clones, plasmid DNA was extracted following the alkaline extraction method [34], and PCR assays with the vector primers were performed. Positive clones were also sent to Genewiz (NJ, USA) for Sanger sequencing.

### Bioinformatics analysis of 16S rRNA, *phaC*, and *phaC1* genes

All the obtained 16S rRNA, *phaC* and *phaC1* sequences were analyzed with Chromas Pro v 1.5 (<http://technelysium.com.au/wp/chromaspro/>), and CodonCode Aligner v 4.0.4 (CodonCode Corporation, Dedham, MA, USA). Sequences were compared by BLAST v. 2.7.1+ [2], and only those showing identity with 16S rRNA, *phaC* and *phaC1* genes were selected for further analysis.

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 2

Deleted: the

Deleted: 2

Deleted: This, forced a semi-nested PCR strategy in order to obtain enough number of amplicons to be sequenced after the purification process of the first PCR product.

Deleted: made

Deleted: thirty

Deleted: 1

Deleted: The results of the experiment required that

Deleted: the

Deleted: of PCR

Deleted: of both genes from environmental samples

Deleted: and

Deleted: detection

Deleted: To detect positive clones

Deleted: librarie

Deleted: subsequently

Deleted: All s

For taxonomic assignment of strains, 16S rRNA gene sequences were phylogenetically compared with sequences obtained from GenBank using the MEGA 6 software [37], using a Maximum parsimony algorithm. Previous to the tree phylogenetic estimation, the sequences of *phaC* and *phaC1* from clones and strains were translated to amino acid sequences with the EMBOSS Transeq translation tool [11, 31].

Deleted: urn, Particularly for the sequences of 16S rRNA, direct taxonomic assignment was taken after the comparison with BLAST; nonetheless a

Deleted: reconstruction

Deleted: additional

Deleted: and those determined from the strains,

Deleted: was estimated with

Deleted: under

Deleted: ly

In order to obtain the best representative sequences for the phylogenetic reconstruction, derived *PhaC* sequences of clones were assessed using the default parameters of CD-HIT tool with a threshold value of 97% [22]. These representative sequences, derived *PhaC* sequences of isolated strains, as well as several sequences retrieved from GenBank of *PhaC* classes I, II, III and IV, were subsequently aligned with SeaView version 4.6.2 [10, 12] under the Clustal Omega algorithm [35]. The alignment was assessed in MEGA 6 and ProtTest 3 [1, 7] to find the best amino acid substitution model, an LG model with gamma distribution was selected under the Bayes information criterion (BIC). The tree topology was estimated with PhyML 3.0 [14] using the Maximum-Likelihood method with 1000 bootstraps under the selected model assumptions.

Deleted: from

Deleted: the

Deleted: and

Deleted: a

Deleted: ping

### GenBank accession numbers

16S rRNA gene sequences from strains were deposited in GenBank with accession numbers MF804952 to MF804957. *phaC* sequences retrieved from isolated strains were deposited with the accession numbers MF939169, MF939170, MG201834, and MG201835. Environmental *phaC* and *phaC1* sequences were deposited with accession numbers MF939171 to MF939204 and MG52451.

Deleted: to

Deleted: Meanwhile, e



## RESULTS

### Detection of PHA granules in environmental samples and isolated strains

Salinity measurements of the brines where microbial mats were sampled were of 6.3% for ESSA

A1 and 8.5% for ESSA A4. Microbial mat samples stained with Nile Red exhibited PHA

granules inside long filamentous cells of various diameters (Fig. 1A and 1B). Additionally, 62

colonies were obtained from four culture media used for the isolation of PHA producers. Only

six isolates achieved growth and PHA granule formation within the first 72 hours of incubation.

The strains 2A, 3B and 4C were isolated in YEA-glucose medium; strains 1B and 5B were

obtained in YEA-acetate and strain 6A grew in *Pseudomonas* Agar culture medium. The growth

of these six strains was not evaluated in the four different culture media assayed.

The six strains showed well-defined RCIs, and PHA granules when Sudan Black was used.

However, only Gram-negative strains exhibited PHA granules using Nile Red staining (Table 2).

Representatives of the three techniques are shown; Nile Red of Gram-negative strains (Fig. 1C

and 1D), well-defined RCIs (Fig. 1E – G) and affinity to Sudan Black of a Gram-positive strain

(Fig. 1H).

### Taxonomic assignment of isolated PHA-producing bacterial strains

The isolated PHA-producing strains were taxonomically assigned to four genera based on the

comparison of 16S rRNA gene sequences with GenBank (Table 2). Three strains of *Halomonas*

were detected in ESSA\_A1, as well as strains of the genera *Paracoccus* and *Staphylococcus*,

while a strain of *Planomicrobium*, was the only one obtained from ESSA A4. According to

phylogenetic analysis, strains ESSAA1Ac\_1B, ESSAA1Glu\_3B and ESSAA1Glu\_4C were

closely related with *Halomonas salina* (Fig. 2). In turn, strain ESSAA1Glu\_2A had high

similarity with *Paracoccus chinensis*, while strain ESSAA1PAF\_6A was closely related to

Deleted: Environmental *phaC2* gene detection in mats by qPCR

The detection and quantification of *phaC2* gene in microbial mat samples from ESSA A1 and ESSA A4 were performed in a qPCR system (Rotor-Gene 6000 thermocycler, QIAGEN, Germany), with primers previously reported [41] (Table 1). A standard curve was constructed using DNA of *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440, with concentrations ranging from  $8.9 \times 10^{10}$ – $4.4 \times 10^8$  *phaC2* copies  $\mu\text{L}^{-1}$ . qPCR reactions contained 4.25  $\mu\text{L}$  of sterile water, 6.25  $\mu\text{L}$  of SYBR® Green master mix (QIAGEN, Germany), 0.5  $\mu\text{L}$  of each primer [10 mM], and 1  $\mu\text{L}$  DNA extracted from 0.1 g of sample. Thermal cycling conditions consisted in one cycle of 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 40 cycles at 94 °C for 40 s, 53 °C for 40 s, and 72 °C for 40 s; with fluorescence detection at the end of each cycle, and a final cycle at 72 °C for 8 min. Additionally, a melting curve was run for primer dimers detection by increasing temperature from 45–95 °C with increases of 1 °C per cycle.

DNA-mass values were transformed to copy numbers with a formula described by IDT technologies [16], and statistically analyzed by R studio version 1.0.136 (Rstudio team, 2015; <https://www.r-project.org/>), with *a priori* Shapiro-Wilk and Figner tests, a variance analysis (ANOVA), and *a posteriori* Tukey-HSD test.

Deleted: develop

Deleted: bacterial cells of

Deleted: with

Deleted: able

Deleted:

Deleted: genera

Deleted: genus

Deleted: the

Deleted: s

*Staphylococcus saprophyticus*, and ESSAA4Ac\_5B with a cluster of *Planomicrobium okeanokoites* and *Planomicrobium flavidum* (Fig. 2).

### PHA synthase genes from PHA-producing strains and microbial mats

Four of the six PHA-producing strains (ESSAA1Ac\_1B, ESSAA1Glu\_2A, ESSAA1Glu\_3B, ESSAA1Glu\_4C), assessed by the molecular approach to detect *phaC* gene resulted in amplicons of the expected size (~500 bp) (Table 2). Although strain ESSAA4Ac\_5B showed RCIs and was positive to Sudan Black (Fig. 1H), an unexpected amplicon of ~1000 bp was obtained. However, the sequence had low quality, therefore *phaC* gene assignment was not possible. In turn, ESSAA1PFA\_6A strain did not present any PCR fragment amplification.

Amplicons from strains ESSAA1Glu\_1B, ESSAA1Glu\_2A, ESSAA1Glu\_3B, and ESSAA1Glu\_4C were successfully sequenced. The partial *phaC* sequence of ESSAA1Glu\_2A strain showed an ORF of 528 bp encoding 176 amino acids, with an identity value of 98% with the sequence from *Paracoccus chinensis* (SDK97885). Both strains ESSAA1Ac\_1B and ESSAA1Glu\_3B showed an ORF of 534 bp encoding 178 amino acids. Meanwhile in ESSAA1Glu\_4C, the ORF was of 528 bp encoding 176 amino acids. All showed relatively high identity values of 97, 97 and 94 %, respectively against PHA synthase class I of *Halomonas aestuarii* (WP071941987) (Table 2).

A unique *phaC* fragment of ~500 bp was also obtained from environmental DNA PCR assays using primers PHACGN (data not shown). In turn, a nested strategy to detect *phaC1* resulted in a first fragment of ~1100 bp (Fig. S1), which was used as template for the second round, allowing unique fragments of ~500 bp which were subsequently used for cloning assays (Fig. S2).

Deleted: with

Deleted: s

Deleted: the expected

Deleted: Despite

Deleted: The p

Deleted: p

Deleted: codifying for

Deleted:

Commented [PD2]: please specify if the identity is based on derived amino acids or nucleotides

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ,

Deleted: codifying for

Deleted: codifying for

Deleted: ; a

Deleted: of them

Deleted: -

Deleted: Same as with strains, a

Deleted: the

Deleted: 2

Deleted: that

Deleted: 2

After screening clone libraries, 22 confirmed *phaC* sequences from ESSA A1 (16 sequences) and ESSA A4 (6 sequences) were analyzed by BLAST (Table 3). The sequences were binned to PHA producers presumed to belong to eight families of Alphaproteobacteria and Gammaproteobacteria, and to unassigned bacteria (Fig. 3), with identity values ranging from 67 – 99 % (Table S1). Differences in composition at the presumed family level were observed in the sites (Fig. 3). For ESSA A1 seven families were detected meanwhile for ESSA A4 only four, with Rhodobacteraceae and Rhodospirillaceae the most abundant families, respectively. It is remarkable that most of the sequences recovered from ESSA A4 (with an abundance of ~ 60 %), despite showing high quality, were assigned to hypothetical proteins and with proteins lacking an assigned taxon (unassigned taxa) (Fig. 3).

Only six partial-putative PhaC amino acid sequences had a relatively close similarity (>90 %) with sequences reported previously; two clones to *Marinobacter* sp., (99 % and 97 %), one clone to *Cobetia amphilecti*, (98%), two more to *Marivita hallyeonensis* (94 % and 96 %), and a last one to a bacterium of the Rhodobacteraceae family (91 %) (Table S1). In turn, we obtained 13 confirmed PhaC sequences deduced from *phaC1* genes, five from ESSA A1, and eight from ESSA A4 (Table 3), however all the putative amino acid sequences showed a high identity value (99 %) with PHA synthase class II of *Pseudomonas putida* (Table S1).

### Phylogeny of PHA-synthase sequences recovered from microbial mats

CD-HIT analysis resulted in 21 clusters (20 for PhaC class I and one for PhaC class II) (Table S1), which were submitted to a phylogenetic analysis using the Maximum-Likelihood method. Phylogenetic analysis (Fig. 4) showed that the partial amino acid sequences deduced from *phaC*

- Deleted: clone libraries
- Deleted: the
- Deleted: of clone libraries
- Deleted: a total of
- Deleted: of
- Deleted:  $\alpha$ -P
- Deleted:  $\gamma$ -P
- Deleted: classes
- Deleted: of
- Formatted: Highlight
- Deleted: 1
- Deleted: taxonomic
- Deleted: both
- Deleted: being
- Deleted: BLAST analyses indicated that these amino acid sequences whose existence has been predicted although experimental evidence expressed *in vivo* has not been determined
- Deleted: of
- Commented [PD3]: PLEASE ADD HERE THE HOMOLOGY TO KNOWN PHAC. ARE THESE UNKNOWN PHAC GENES OR NON-SPECIFIC PRODUCTS?
- Deleted: 1
- Deleted: matched with proteins whose existence has been predicted but for which experimental evidence expressed *in vivo* has not been determined known as hypothetical protein and also with proteins lacking of an assigned taxa
- Deleted: showed closeness
- Deleted: similarity to
- Deleted: with
- Deleted: with
- Deleted: family
- Deleted: 1
- Deleted: 1
- Deleted: (5 sequences);
- Deleted: (8 sequences)
- Deleted: 5
- Deleted: sequences
- Deleted: from both sites
- Deleted: 1
- Deleted: clusters
- Deleted: cluster
- Deleted: 5
- Deleted: subsequently

genes binned into PhaC class I of PHA producers from Alphaproteobacteria and Gammaproteobacteria.

Deleted: with  
Deleted: α-P  
Deleted: γ-P

Four clones (59, 79, 98, and 123) were independently arranged in the tree (red branches), showing an unclear phylogenetic relation with PhaC sequences previously reported. In turn, 11 clones (blue branches in the tree) were binned to different clusters probably belonging to members of the families Rhodospirillaceae, Hyphomonadaceae, Granulosicoccaceae and Rhodobacteraceae. Only five clones (2, 4, 5, 18 and 56; green branches), were strongly clustered to known PHA producers and assigned to the family Rhodobacteraceae of the Alphaproteobacteria, and to families Alteromonadaceae and Halomonadaceae of the Gammaproteobacteria. As expected, the representative PhaC class II sequence was clustered with the well-studied mcl-PHA producer *P. putida*.

Deleted: eleven

Deleted: α-P  
Deleted: γ-P  
Deleted: ,  
Deleted: it

## DISCUSSION

### PHA-granule detection in isolated strains and environmental samples

Previous studies have suggested that the production of PHA in hypersaline microbial mats was restricted to filamentous cyanobacteria, purple sulfur bacteria [33], green non-sulfur bacteria of the phylum *Chloroflexi* [5], and heterotrophic bacteria of the genera *Sphingomonas*, *Bacillus*, and *Halomonas* [40]. Our study shows the presence of PHA granules and PHA synthases in both environmental samples as well in aerobic-heterotrophic bacterial strains isolated from the samples (Fig. 1; Table 2). Partial 16S rRNA gene sequences revealed PHA production in three strains belonging to the genus *Halomonas*, which was previously found in estuarine and hypersaline mats [40]. The remaining isolated strains were related to *Paracoccus*. *Planomicrobium*

Deleted: Detection of *phaC2* gene in microbial mats through quantitative PCR assays  
A standard curve relating CT values with *phaC2* gene copy number was constructed in order to quantify this gene in environmental mats. There was a strong linear inverse relation between CT values and log<sub>10</sub> of *phaC2* copy number ( $R^2 = 0.99$ ). The equation describing the relationship between both parameter was  $CT = -3.0702 \times \log_{10} (\text{gene copy number}) + 46.812$ , with a reaction efficiency of 1.12.  
The quantification and transformation of DNA concentration values to copy numbers of *phaC2* gene in environmental samples resulted in an estimation of  $2.1 \times 10^8$  and  $5.4 \times 10^8$  copies of *phaC2* g<sup>-1</sup> of mat from ESSA A1 and ESSA A4, respectively. However, ANOVA analysis discarded the presence of statistical differences between both samples ( $P > 0.05$ ).

Deleted: s  
Deleted: ,  
Deleted: , and bacterial taxonomic assignment  
Deleted: shown  
Deleted: occurrence  
Deleted: producers  
Deleted:  
Deleted: |  
Deleted: indicated  
Deleted: the presence of  
Deleted:  
Deleted: rest of the strains isolated

and *Staphylococcus*, and represent the first reported of the occurrence of these PHA-producing genera in hypersaline microbial mats (Table 2).

Deleted: being

Deleted: of PHA-producers

Most of the strains isolated in this work were closely affiliated with Gammaproteobacteria of the genus *Halomonas* (Table 2). Previous studies carried out on Ebro Delta Estuary, Spain and Camargo mats, France indicate that *Halomonas* is one of the most abundant taxa in both samples, where it appears to interact syntrophically with phototrophic partners, with direct consequences on polyhydroxyalkanoate diel dynamics in stratified systems [40]. Based on this, we suggest that PHA-producers of the *Halomonas* genus could have an important role as sink in carbon cycling [4], and PHA biosynthesis in Guerrero Negro mats.

Deleted: related

Deleted: the

Deleted: γ-P

Deleted: Estuary

Deleted: s

### PHA synthases from hypersaline microbial mats

Heterotrophic PHA-producing bacteria have been isolated from different environments including estuarine microbial mats [13, 40], hypersaline mats [6], and contaminated mats [23]. However, the well-studied microbial mats from Guerrero Negro have never been analyzed for PHA producers. The use of the primer set (PHACGNF and PHACGNR) targeting *phaC* of Gram negative bacteria [24] and two sets of primers (*phaCF1/phaCR2*; *phaCF2/phaCR1*) designed in this study to target *phaC1*, allowed the recovery of partial-putative PHA synthases of the classes I and II, respectively, suggesting the presence of a wide diversity of Gram negative taxa including *Pseudomonas* spp. with the potential of PHA production in the mat samples.

Deleted: as

Deleted: the screening of

Deleted: heterotrophic PHA-producing bacteria

Deleted: s

Deleted: the

Deleted: members

Since microbial mats of ESSA harbor a great diversity of microorganisms with different metabolic capabilities [21], some functional genes could show low abundance in these environments. Therefore, the detection of *phaC1* gene was difficult, requiring a modified nested-PCR strategy despite the risk of amplification biases. Nonetheless, since primers were designed

Deleted: to increase their availability (abundance) through

Deleted: the

based on 13 different *Pseudomonas* spp. (Dataset S1), it is not clear if the results obtained were due to an underestimation of diversity or that *Pseudomonas putida* is indeed the most abundant species of *Pseudomonas* in the mat.

Deleted: over

Deleted: type of

Deleted: Fig.

Deleted: sub-

Analysis of the approximated composition at the family level of the sequences obtained from clone libraries indicate differences in the two sites (Fig. 3), suggesting that distinctive microorganisms could be involved in the production of PHA in each mat, probably due to changes of salinity. It was also found that sequences from both sites matched with PhaC of unassigned taxa, which were interpreted as derived from uncultured bacteria and with hypothetical proteins of unknown function (Fig. 3). Similar results were found in deep-sea water samples [9], ice and cold pelagic seawater environments [26], suggesting that PHA productivity of these uncultured microorganisms have not been examined yet.

Deleted: both

Deleted: in

Deleted: |

Deleted: It was also found that sequences from both sites matched with PhaC of unassigned and hypothetical proteins which were interpreted as derived from uncultured bacteria

Deleted: and

It was observed that the isolated strains were not detected in clone libraries. This could be associated with inherent biases of the methods used. In particular, we employed the detection of inner granules and growth within the first 72 h of culture as selection criteria to choose PHA producers. Staining methods are suitable for screening large numbers of strains. However, particular microorganisms will demand appropriate carbon sources as well as different incubation times to show PHA granules [23]. Hence, even when the screening of PHA producers was carried out on 62 colonies which probably had the ability of PHA production, only six fulfilled the selected criteria.

Deleted: s latter

Deleted: It has been stated that s

### Phylogenetic relationship of PHA synthases from Guerrero Negro microbial mats

We compiled the deduced amino acid sequences of *phaC* and *phaC1* genes obtained through the culture independent approach and, by reconstructing a phylogenetic tree, compared their

Deleted: deduced-

relationship with the four PhaC classes. Most of the putative amino acid sequences of PhaC directly recovered from the mats were related with PHA producers in which the percent of PHA accumulation has not been examined yet [19].

From PhaC class I sequences, four clones could not be assigned to any family (Fig. 4; red branches). These independent sequences probably derived from PhaC of unidentified Proteobacteria. In turn, five PhaC sequences (Fig. 4; green branches), were closely related to PhaCs of PHA-producers that are poorly studied: *Marinobacter* sp., (two clones), *Cobetia* sp., *Marivita* sp., and a bacterium of the Rhodobacteraceae family [9, 27, 32, 41]. Accordingly, 15 uncharacterized putative PhaC synthase fragments (<90%) from hypersaline microbial mats are reported in this work (Fig. 4; red and blue branches).

In turn, the PhaC class II representative sequence (green branch) was binned together with the PHA synthase class II of *Pseudomonas putida*, with a sequence of *Aeromonas hydrophila* and, in a separated branch, with *P. fluorescens* (Fig. 4). However, the discrepancy on the *A. hydrophila* arrangement along with *P. putida* and clone 223, could be attributed to a paralogous gene or to a HGT event, as has been previously documented [17]. Moreover, the ability of mcl-PHA production by some *Aeromonas* species has been reported [16].

This cluster of Gammaproteobacteria was closely related with another group that included clone 23 and *Rubrimonas cliftonensis*, which belongs to the Rhodobacteraceae family of the Alphaproteobacteria. Furthermore, both clusters were closely related to a branch of several Rhodobacteraceae members although as a more distant clade (Fig. 4). This arrangement suggests that clone 23 and this particular sequence of *R. cliftonensis* could have a closer relationship to the PhaC class I of Gammaproteobacteria than to the PhaC of Alphaproteobacteria. This hypothesis is,

Deleted: s

Deleted: of PhaCs

Deleted: |

Deleted: employed for the phylogenetic reconstruction

Deleted: level

Deleted: suggested that PhaC were derived from

Deleted: against

Deleted: of

Deleted: family

Deleted: are reported

Deleted: from ESSA

Deleted: along

Deleted: possible

Deleted: of *Aeromonas*

Deleted: Worth to notice t

Deleted: hat t

Deleted: γ-

Deleted: Pr

Deleted: ing

Deleted: α-P

Deleted: farther-away

Deleted: s

Deleted: γ-P

Deleted: α-P

Deleted: c

Deleted: an be

supported by the fact that the genome of *R. cliftonensis* has four different paralogous *phaC* genes (WGS project No. FNQM01000000), and another paralog was binned to the Alphaproteobacteria group along with the clone 13 (Fig. 4). Remarkably, the arrangement observed suggests that the origin of *phaC1* class II gene of *Pseudomonas* could be derived from *phaC* class I of Alphaproteobacteria, although a deeper analysis to confirm this hypothesis should be done.

Another similar case of potential paralogs was observed in the cluster formed between clone 14 and the gammaproteobacterium *Granulosicoccus antarticus*, which was assigned into the Alphaproteobacteria group (Fig. 4).

Clones with higher identity values (Table S) as well as the sequences of the characterized strains (*Paracoccus* sp. and *Halomonas* sp.) were arranged to the expected taxonomic families and classes (Fig. 4).

The differences of variability in amino acid sequences among class I and class II PhaC in the phylogenetic tree suggests that scl-PHA are synthesized by a wide range of bacteria, while mcl-PHAs are produced primarily by some *Pseudomonas* strains [18]. In addition, a high diversity and availability of carbon sources can be found and directly synthesized to scl-PHA in the Guerrero Negro mats, i. e. organic acids produced during the fermentation process carried out by primary producers [20].

Although our results showed a bias derived from the use of primers designed only for Gram-negative bacteria, we were able to retrieve putative PhaC class I sequences organized in eight families (Fig. 4). This family distribution could be explained because the ability to synthesize PHAs is widespread in bacteria, since the PHA synthase genes can be horizontally transferred

Deleted: with

Deleted: *phaC*

Deleted: since

Deleted: of the

Deleted: copy

Deleted: ies

Deleted:

Deleted:  $\alpha$ -

Deleted: P

Deleted: would

Deleted: of

Deleted: the  $\alpha$ -P

Deleted: with

Deleted:  $\gamma$ -P

Deleted: a

Deleted:  $\alpha$ -P

Deleted: the

Deleted: |

Deleted: |

Deleted: as well as the sequences of the characterized strains (*Paracoccus* sp. and *Halomonas* sp.)

Deleted: association with the fact

Deleted: synthesized

Deleted: er

Deleted: |

Deleted: Despite

Deleted: of

Deleted: B

Deleted: s



between different phylogenetic groups, suggesting an adaptive advantage to the microorganisms that synthesize them [16, 17].

Deleted: hereditary characteristic related with survival and therefore represent some evolutionary

Consistently with previous reports for marine environments [9], most of the putative sequences retrieved in this study corresponded to PHA synthase class I, which were related to the class Alphaproteobacteria. In contrast, other well-studied environments as activated sludge and soils contaminated with oil show dominant groups belonging to class I PhaCs of Betaproteobacteria [9].

Deleted:  $\alpha$ -P

Deleted:  $\beta$ -P

Although culture-independent methods are a good tool for the detection of yet uncultured microorganisms with the potential of PHA production, cautious interpretation is needed due to the existence of paralogous genes, since some bacteria harbor more than one copy of the *phaC* gene in their genome, such as in *Cupriavidus necator* [9]. In some cases, these paralogous show low sequence similarity or even belong to different PhaC classes. Therefore, further assessments of PhaC activity either *in vitro* or *in vivo* will be required, particularly of PhaC retrieved from environmental DNA [9].

Deleted: ,

## CONCLUSIONS

We report here for the first time the occurrence of PHA synthase class I and II in hypersaline microbial mats, inferred from *phaC* gene sequences and PHA granules as evidence for PHA production, which contribute to the knowledge of the PHA-bacterial producers of the classes Alphaproteobacteria and Gammaproteobacteria in hypersaline environments characterized by showing extreme metabolic diversity. Thus, hypersaline microbial mats could be considered an excellent source for the isolation of new PHA-producing strains with potential to use a wide spectra of carbon sources as sugars, organic acids, alcohols, amino acids and hydrocarbons, since

Deleted: **phaC2 detection in hypersaline environments**  
Although two mcl-PHA synthase genes, *phaC1* and *phaC2*, have been identified and characterized in several species of *Pseudomonas*, *phaC2* gene has been considered as biological marker for mcl-PHA production due to a broader substrate specificity [19, 41]. Thus, potential production of mcl-PHA in hypersaline microbial mats from Guerrero Negro was assessed for a first time in this study by the qPCR quantification of *phaC2* gene (Fig 5). The abundances of this gene in both samples had not statistical differences. However, these results suggest that the analyzed samples harbor the capability of mcl-PHA production, mainly by several species of *Pseudomonas*, which has biotechnological implications due to the specific physical and mechanical properties found in these polymers in comparison with scl-PHA.

Deleted: ed

Deleted: s

Deleted: s

Deleted: with

Deleted:  $\alpha$ - and  $\gamma$ -P

Deleted: ,

Deleted: s

the composition of PHA is clearly affected by the microorganism and the carbon source. Further studies should be directed to determine the *in situ* quantities of PHA and the monomer's types that occur in these microbial mats.

**Deleted:** , which could constitute industrial effluents as a strategy to use low-cost carbon sources to reduce the operation costs

**Deleted:** Nevertheless, f

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Exportadora de Sal, S.A de C.V. for access to the Guerrero Negro field sites.

We would like to thank to Jesús Nuñez-Rojas from Laboratorio de Ecología Microbiana Molecular of the Benemérita Universidad Autónoma de Puebla, who kindly provided the strain KT2440. We also thank to Ma. Leopoldina Aguirre-Macedo for supporting the clone libraries preparation at CINVESTAV Mérida; and to Alejandra Escobar-Zepeda for the edition of Figure 3.

## REFERENCES

1. Abascal F, Zardoya R, Posada D (2005) ProtTest: Selection of best-fit models of protein evolution. *Bioinformatics* 21:2104-2105. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/bti263
2. Altschul SF, Gish W, Miller W, Myers EW, Lipman DJ (1990) Basic local alignment search tool. *J Mol Biol* 215:403-410. doi:10.1016/S0022-2836(05)80360-2
3. Baumann P, Baumann L (1981). The marine gram-negative eubacteria: Genera *Photobacterium*, *Beneckea*, *Alteromonas*, *Pseudomonas*, and *Alcaligenes*. In: Starr MP, Stolp H, Truper HG, Balows A, Schlegel HG (eds) *The Prokaryotes. A handbook on Habitats, Isolation, and Identification of Bacteria*. Springer, Berlin, pp 1302-1331

4. Berlanga M, Montero MT, Fernández-Borrell J, Guerrero R (2006) Rapid spectrofluorometric screening of poly-hydroxyalkanoate-producing bacteria from microbial mats. *Int Microbiol* 9:95-102
5. Burow LC, Woebken D, Marshall IP, Lindquist EA, Bebout BM, Prufert-Bebout L, Hoehler TM, Tringe SG, Pett-Ridge J, Weber PK (2013) Anoxic carbon flux in photosynthetic microbial mats as revealed by metatranscriptomics. *ISME J* 7:817-829. doi:10.1038/ismej.2012.150
6. Caumette P, Matheron R, Raymond N, Relexans J (1994) Microbial mats in the hypersaline ponds of Mediterranean salterns (Salins-de-Giraud, France). *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 13:273-286. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.1994.tb00074.x
7. Darriba D, Taboada GL, Doallo R, Posada D (2011) ProtTest 3: fast selection of best-fit models of protein evolution. *Bioinformatics* 27:1164-1165. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btr088
8. Dawes EA and Senior PJ (1973) The role and regulation of energy reserve polymers in microorganisms. *Adv Microbiol Physiol* 10:135–266. [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2911\(08\)60088-0](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2911(08)60088-0)
9. Foong CP, Lau N, Deguchi S, Toyofuku T, Taylor TD, Sudesh K, Matsui M (2014) Whole genome amplification approach reveals novel polyhydroxyalkanoate synthases (PhaCs) from Japan trench and Nankai trough seawater. *BMC Microbiol* 14:1-11. doi: 10.1186/s12866-014-0318-z
10. Galtier N, Gouy M, Gautier C (1996) SEAVIEW and PHYLO\_WIN: two graphic tools for sequence alignment and molecular phylogeny. *Comput Appl Biosci* 12:543-548

11. Goujon M, McWilliam H, Li W, Valentin F, Squizzato S, Paern J, Lopez R (2010) A new bioinformatics analysis tools framework at EMBL–EBI. *Nucleic Acids Res* 38:W695. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq313
12. Gouy M, Guindon S, Gascuel O (2010) SeaView version 4: a multiplatform graphical user interface for sequence alignment and phylogenetic tree building. *Mol Biol Evol* 27:221-224. doi:10.1093/molbev/msp259
13. Guerrero R, Urmeneta J, Rampone G (1993) Distribution of types of microbial mats at the Ebro Delta, Spain. *BioSystems* 31:135-144. [https://doi.org/10.1016/0303-2647\(93\)90042-B](https://doi.org/10.1016/0303-2647(93)90042-B)
14. Guindon S, Dufayard JF, Lefort V, Anisimova M, Hordijk W, Gascuel O (2010) New algorithms and methods to estimate maximum-likelihood phylogenies: Assessing the performance of PhyML 3.0. *Syst Biol* 59:307-21. doi:10.1093/sysbio/syq010
15. Haywood GW, Anderson AJ, Daws EA. (1989). A survey of the accumulation of novel polyhydroxyalkanoates by bacteria. *Biotechnology letters* 11:471-476.

▼

16. Kadouri D, Jurkevitch E, Okon Y, Castro-Sowinski S (2005) Ecological and agricultural significance of bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Crit Rev Microbiol* 31:55-67. doi:10.1080/10408410590899228

17. Kalia VC, Lal S, Cheema S (2007) Insight in to the phylogeny of polyhydroxyalkanoate biosynthesis: Horizontal gene transfer. *Gene* 389:19-26. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2006.09.010

Deleted: 16. IDT (2013) Calculations: Converting from nanograms to copy number. DECODED Newsletter Vol 3 No. 4. <https://www.idtdna.com/pages/deleted-deleted-articles/paper-ids/deleted-2013-10-31-calculations-converting-from-nanograms-to-copy-number>. (accessed 10 February 2017)

18. Kim DY, Kim HW, Chung MG, Rhee YH (2007) Biosynthesis, modification, and biodegradation of bacterial medium-chain-length polyhydroxyalkanoates. *J Microbiol* 45:87-97
19. Koller M, Salerno A, Braunegg G (2014) Polyhydroxyalkanoates: Basics, production and applications of microbial biopolyesters. In: Kabasci S (ed) *Bio-Based Plastics: Materials and Applications*, 1st edn. Wiley, New York, pp 137-170
20. Lee JZ, Burow LC, Woebken D, Everroad RC, Kubo MD, Spormann AM, Weber PK, Pett-Ridge J, Bebout BM, Hoehler TM (2014) Fermentation couples Chloroflexi and sulfate-reducing bacteria to Cyanobacteria in hypersaline microbial mats. *Front Microbiol* 5:1-17. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2014.00061
21. Ley RE, Harris JK, Wilcox J, Spear JR, Miller SR, Bebout BM, Maresca JA, Bryant DA, Sogin ML, Pace NR (2006) Unexpected diversity and complexity of the Guerrero Negro hypersaline microbial mat. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 72:53685-3695
22. Li W, Godzik A (2006) Cd-hit: a fast program for clustering and comparing large sets of protein or nucleotide sequences. *Bioinformatics* 22:1658–1659. <https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btl158>
23. López-Cortés A, Lanz-Landázuri A, García-Maldonado JQ (2008) Screening and isolation of PHB-producing bacteria in a polluted marine microbial mat. *Microb Ecol* 56:112-120. doi: 10.1007/s00248-007-9329-8
24. López-Cortés A, Rodríguez-Fernández O, Latisnere-Barragán H, Mejía-Ruiz HC, González-Gutiérrez G, Lomelí-Ortega C (2010) Characterization of polyhydroxyalkanoate and the *phaC*

gene of *Paracoccus seriniphilus* E71 strain isolated from a polluted marine microbial mat. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 26:109-118. doi:10.1007/s11274-009-0149-5

25. Madison LL, Huisman GW (1999) Metabolic engineering of poly(3-hydroxyalkanoates): from DNA to plastic. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 63:21-53

26. Pärnänen K, Karkman A, Virta M, Eronen-Rasimus E, Kaartokallio H (2015). Discovery of bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoate synthase (PhaC)-encoding genes from seasonal Baltic Sea ice cold estuarine waters. Extremophiles 19:197-206. doi: 10.1007/s00792-014-0699-9

27. Pujalte MJ, Lucena T, Ruvira MA, Arahal DR, Macián MC (2014) The family Rhodobacteraceae. In: Rosenberg E, DeLong EF, Lory S, Stackebrandt E, Thompson F (eds) The Prokaryotes: Alphaproteobacteria and Betaproteobacteria, 4th edn. Springer, Berlin, pp 439-512

28. Rathi DN, Amir HG, Abed RMM, Kosugi A, Arai T, Sulaiman O, Hashim R, Sudesh K. (2012) Polyhydroxyalkanoate biosynthesis and simplified polymer recovery by a novel moderately halophilic bacterium isolated from hypersaline microbial mats. J Appl Microbiol 114:384-395. doi: 10.1111/jam.12083

29. Rehm BH (2003) Polyester synthases: natural catalysts for plastics. Biochem J 376:15-33. doi: 10.1042/BJ20031254

30. Rehm BH (2010) Bacterial polymers: biosynthesis, modifications and applications Nature Rev Microbiol 8:578-592. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2354

31. Rice P, Longden I, Bleasby A (2000) EMBOSS: the European molecular biology open software suite. Trends in Genetics 16:276-277. [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-9525\(00\)00204-2](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-9525(00)00204-2)

32. Romanenko LA, Tanaka N, Svetashev VI, Falsen E (2013) Description of *Cobetia amphilecti* sp. nov., *Cobetia litoralis* sp. nov. and *Cobetia pacifica* sp. nov., classification of *Halomonas halodurans* as a later heterotypic synonym of *Cobetia marina* and emended descriptions of the genus *Cobetia* and *Cobetia marina*. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 63:288-297.  
doi:10.1099/ijss.0.036863-0
33. Rothermich MM, Guerrero R, Lenz RW, Goodwin S (2000) Characterization, seasonal occurrence, and diel fluctuation of Poly(hydroxyalkanoate) in photosynthetic microbial mats. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:4279-4291
34. Sambrook J, Russell DW (2001) Molecular cloning. A Laboratory Manual, Vol 1. CSH, New York
35. Sievers F, Wilm A, Dineen D, Gibson TJ, Karplus K, Li W, Lopez R, McWilliam H, Remmert M, Soding J, Thompson JD, Higgins DG (2011) Fast, scalable generation of high-quality protein multiple sequence alignments using Clustal Omega. Mol Syst Biol 7:1-6.  
doi:10.1038/msb.2011.75
36. Solaiman DK, Ashby RD, Foglia TA (2000) Rapid and specific identification of medium-chain-length polyhydroxyalkanoate synthase gene by polymerase chain reaction. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 53:690-694. doi: 10.1007/s002530000332
37. Tamura K, Stecher G, Peterson D, Filipski A, Kumar S (2013) MEGA 6: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 6.0. Mol Biol Evol 30:2725-2729.  
doi:10.1093/molbev/mst197

38. Teske A, Hinrichs KU, Edgcomb V, de Vera Gomez A, Kysela D, Sylva SP, Sogin ML, Jannasch HW (2002) Microbial diversity of hydrothermal sediments in the Guaymas Basin: evidence for anaerobic methanotrophic communities. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 68:1994-2007. doi:10.1128/AEM.68.4.1994-2007.2002
39. Verlinden RA, Hill DJ, Kenward M, Williams CD, Radecka I (2007) Bacterial synthesis of biodegradable polyhydroxyalkanoates. *J Appl Microbiol* 102:1437-1449. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2007.03335.x
40. Villanueva L, Del Campo J, Guerrero R (2010) Diversity and physiology of polyhydroxyalkanoate-producing and degrading strains in microbial mats. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 74:42-54. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2010.00928.x
41. Yoon J, Kang S, Lee S, Jung Y, Lee J, Oh T (2012) *Marivita hallyeonensis* sp. nov., isolated from seawater, reclassification of *Gaetbulicola byunsanensis* as *Marivita byunsanensis* comb. nov. and emended description of the genus *Marivita* Hwang et al. 2009. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* 62:839-843. doi:10.1099/ijs.0.032086-0
42. Zhang G, Hang X, Green P, Ho K, Chen G (2001) PCR cloning of type II polyhydroxyalkanoate biosynthesis genes from two *Pseudomonas* strains. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 198:165-170. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6968.2001.tb10637.x

Deleted: 41. Wang Q, Nomura CT (2010) Monitoring differences in gene expression levels and polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) production in *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440 grown on different carbon sources. *J Biosci Bioeng* 110:653-659. doi:10.1016/j.jbiosc.2010.08.001